
Laura H. Freudenthal 
Location: Dress circle, front row 
Washington Star, Louis A. Warren Lincoln Library 
February I 3, I 908 

Laura Freudenthal was unusual in claiming that the shot occurred 
during intermission. Also, Mrs. Lincoln was sitting directly to the pres­
ident's right so it is unlikely that she would have had to clamber O'ller 

the chairs. Freudenthal was eighty-seven years old when she recalled 
the event. 

"You know my sister was visiting us from New York," Mrs. Freudenthal will 
begin. She wanted to see the President and the papers said he'd be at that show 
-it was 'Our American Cousins,' you know-so we thought that would be a 
good time to see him well, and thats how we came to be there that night" 

"There was my husband and my sister and I and we were in the first row of 
the first balcony where we were right across from the President's box and we 
could see him perfectly., 

"They had turned down the gas-you know they used that for illumination 
then-and everybody was waiting for the second act to begin, • she recalls. 
"'Suddenly we heard a pistol shot but everybody thought at first it was part of 
the play. Then I saw Booth jump out of the Presidenes box. There was a big 
flag draped about the box, though, and Booth's foot caught in it and he fell 
down to the stage. He recovered himself quickly there, and before a soul 
could move he stood down there in the dim light-he was really handsome, I 
th~ught then-and he cried 'Sic semper tyrannis.' 

You know he had a great big knife in his hand and after he shouted from 
the stage he turned to run off and he sw1'rled th kn'.t d · fr fhim 

d 'f b at 11e aroun m ont o 
an t any ody had gotten in his way they'd h . Th body 
cried out 'the President is shot'' and h . ave ~Otten Jt. en so;;e 
frightened and surprised and for .a min ~ ~t see~e, awful. Everyb y was 
Lincoln clambering over cha· uhe ey dtdn t move. Then I saw Mrs. 

Irs to reac Mr. L · In . th 
people in the audience were mill ' b · tnco and by that nme e 
him out of the theater." mg a out excitedly. And then-they took 

"We all felt we needed something to . 
home like that for we were nearly frantiquiet our nerves; we just couldn't go 
you know that place was famed for its est, so wde walked down to Harvey's-

came oysr d f . ers an a glass o wme. 
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When we had quieted down a bit, we went outdoors again to go home and I 
never saw such a sight as long as I've lived. 

Everybody seemed to be out; soldiers were milling about and the excite­
ment was something terrible to behold! But we went right home to our house 
over on Capitol Hill." 



Memory.

RECALLS FATAL NIGHT
i AT FORD'S THEATER.

Mrs. Robert Struthers of Montclair, N. J., is Only Sur-

viving Member of "Our American Cousin
,y Company and

Vividly Describes Booth's Attack on President and His

y Escapejrom the Stage.

[BY DIRECT WIRE—EXCLUSIVE DISPATCH.]

1ST
EW YORK BUREAU OF THE
TIMES. Feb. 11.—Mrs. Robert

Struthera of Montclair, N. J.,

where she now lives with her daugh-

ter, is the only surviving woman
member of Laura Keene's "Our Amer-
ican Cousin" company, which was
playing at Ford's Theater, Washing-

ton, on the night of Lincoln's assassi-

nation. '

Mrs. Struthers played the character

of Mary Meredith, an Important part

in the play, and one of her scenes

with Asa Trencharfl had always
proved very absorbing to the audience.
Mrs. Struthers said that she had al-

ways believed that Booth, being cog-
nizant of the deep concentration of
the audience at this point in the play,

selected it as the most propitious time
to make his way to Mr. Lincoln's
box.
"When I came on the stage for the

iscene," said Mrs. Struthers, "I saw
"Booth standing in the lobby of the
theater, which was lighted. He was so
;pale that I thought he was 111. Ha
'had just entered the theater from
the street and stood with his hat in
his hand. At the close of the scene
I looked out over the multitude of
spectators and saw that Booth had
disappeared from the lobby. It was
during my scene that he proceeded to
the vicinity of Mr. Lincoln's box and
prepared to shoot the President."

Mrs. Struthers, after leaving the
stage, stopped to talk to William
Withers, Jr., leader of the orchestra,
who had just left the pit to discuss
with the stage manager a song that
was to have been sung that night in
honor of Mr. Lincoln's presence in the
theater.
"We were together only*a minute,"

Mrs. Struthers continued, "when I

saw Booth coming toward us, waving
a great knife in his hand. The blade
of the knife appeared to be about
a foot long. Booth dashed between us
toward the rear entrance of the build-
ing, thrusting me aside and slashing
at Mr. Withers with the knife. The
onslaught was so sudden and so as-
tounding that we could not compre-
hend its meaning, but we both thought
the man had gone mad. We had heard
the report of the shot find the subse-
quent tumult in the theater, but in
the remote regions at the back of
the stage we thought the noise was
occasioned by the introduction of
some new feature of the evening's en-
tertainment. The next moment, how-
ever, one of my brothers came run-
ning in from the audience crying to
me that Booth had shot Lincoln.
There was great confusion. My father
went to the President's box and, with
other men, carried Mr. Lincoln across
the street, to the house in which he
died."

Mrs. Struthers never played In
Washington after the night Mr. Lin-
coln was slain.

****

Jeannie 
Gorlay
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LINCOLN'S DEATH DESCRIBED
BY ACTRESS WHO SAW IT

Montclaih, N. J., Feb. 5 —
surviving woman riiember of

pany that played "Our
Cousin" in Ford's Theatre

The only
! down to the front of the stage, a;id Asa,

the com- j
as the part required, asked permission

American to lisrht a ciBar -
When he struck thoi

match he took a paper from his pocket
"" lne L.siWl . ignited it. The .burned pape,r, it

night Abraham Lincoln was assaa- i develops, was the will which bequeathed

einated Uvea in Mon.tclair. She '

is !
to hixn the Property he regarded as right

Mrs. Robert Struthers, who playeo

Mary Meredith in the comedy drama.
Mrs. Struthers, whose, maiden- name was
Jeannie Gourlay, lives with her daugh-
ter, Mrs. Richard E. Humbert, in St.

Luke's place. Curiously enough Laura
Keene, who was the star in "Our Amer-
ican Cousin," was buried in the ceme-
tery of the Immaculate Conception

parish in Montclair. Some years . later

her body was removed to a cemetery on
Long Island. The only other surviving

members of the company are Harry
Hawk, W. J. Ferguson, who is now play-
ing in "Treasure Island" in New York,
and E. A. Emerson. Although nearly
fifty years have elapsed since she last

saw Mr. Ferguson Mrs. Struthers recog-
|
nized him one evening recently when she

' saw him in a motion picture drama at
a Montclair theatre. Mr. Emerson is

now in business In Washington, not far
from the site of the old Ford Theatre
On the night that Lincoln was killed

Mrs. Struthers was one of five mem-
bers of her family In the theatre, and

|
she narrowly escaped injury at the

I
hands of John Wilkes Booth as he fled

[
from the playhouse. The other nieiu-

j
bers of Mrs. Struthers's family wlio

I were present when Booth shot President
I Lincoln were her father, Thomas C.

|

Gourlay, and sister, Miss Margaret
Gourlay, also members of the Keene
company, and her two brothers,
Thomas C. Gourlay, Jr., and Robert
Gourlay, who were in the audience. It

was one of Mrs. Struthers's brothers who,
gave the War Department official news i

of the assassination.

Mistake in the Prouraiuine.

She has a theatre programme dated [

! fully belonging to Mary. The pretty
' sentiment' of the scene always held the
audience in silence. At the close of the

. dialogue I looked out over the foot-
lights and saw that Booth had disap-
peared. It was during my scene with
Asa that he proceeded quietly to Uie
vicinity of Mr. Lincoln's box.

"After the curtain fell on the act I

was speaking to William Withers, Jr.,

the leader of the orchestra, who had left

his desk to discuss w.ith the stage man-
ager a song that was to have been sung
that night in honor of Mr. Lincoln's
presence.

Mob Threaten* Company.
"We were together only a minute when

I saw Booth come toward us waving a,

great knife. He dashed between us
toward the stage door, thrusting me
aside with one hand and slashing at
Mr. Withers with 'the knife. The on-'
slaught was so sudden we thought the
man had gone mad. We had heard the
report of the shot and the subsequent
tumult in the audience. The next mo-
ment one of my brothers came running
in from the front crying that Booth
had shot Mr. Lincoln. There was great
confusion. My father escorted Miss
Keene through a side entrance to Mr.
Lincoln's box, and Miss Keene took the
stricken President in her arms. Those
in the box did not know where Mr. Lin-
coln had been wounded, but when his
head rested on Miss Keene's bosom the
blood from the bullet hole in his head
left a mark that .was quickly noticed.

My father and another man carried Mr.
Lincoln across the street to the house
in which he died.

"For a while the lives of the members
of the company were in grave peril. A
great, frenzied crowd gathered in the
street, and because of the rumors that
some members of the company were con-
spirators with Booth some of the more

April 14, 1865, and it is one of the I

pelted ones proposed that they burn

originals and not a copy printed from a
the theatre and cremate the alleged of--.

Photographic plate. The facsimiles
fe"d

f

ers
'

This peril was acute unt Mo
have been printed by the thousands and ii

'""'tary got the situation In hat. I

„„„„,, „.,,,.. .. „ -v...., ui......i !; cleared the streets. My father to . us
home and Mr. Withers came with us,

When we got homo we found that
Booth's knife had .slashed Mr. Wlthers's
coat in two places.

are frequently seen. Mrs. Struthers
called attention to the fact that on the
programme her role was given as Mary
Trenchard, whereas it really was Mary
Meredith.

In "Our American Cousin" Mrs.
Struthers had an important scene with
Asa Trenchard, and she said yesterday
that she "has always believed that Booth,
being cognizant of the deep concentra

"Tbe authorities seized our costumes
and the theatre was closed. A few
weeks after the shooting of President
Lincoln the entire company was ordered
to assemble and go through 'Our Amer-

; ican Cousin' exactly as they had done
tion of the audience at this point in the

i on the n)ght the president was slain,
play, selected It as the propitious time

|
; As the costumea were not available the

to make his way to the box occupied by pIay was given m street clothes. The
the Presidential party. I only au<ji ence was a group of men from

When I came on for the scene,' said the secret service> who sought, through
Mrs. Struthers, "I saw Booth In the' :the action of the play) to determine if
theatre. He was so pale I thought he l any of the members of the company
was ill. He had just entered from the could have contributed to the execu-
street. and stood with his hat in hand. tion of Booth's plan. The inquisitors,
Asa Trenchard and i brought our seats howevw S'fT? "fable to implicate anva^

body but Ned Spangler, a scene shifter,
J

in the assassination plot."

Mrs. Struthers never played in Wash- I

ington after the night Mr. Lincoln was
j

slain. "The Octoroon" was to have been
given as a benefit for her shortly after,

according to the announcement on the

programme, but the death of the Presi-

dent prevented. Mrs. Struthers after-

ward played with Edwin Booth- ,-,.

Jeannie Gorlay
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LINCOLN'S ASSASSINATION IN
FORD'S THEATER RECALLED BY ONE OF

ORIGINAL COMPANY'S MEMBERS
TT INTERESTING, indeed, on the

k eve of Lincoln's birth anni-

-»- versary, is resurrection of a

letter bearing- on one or two here-

tofore obscure details attendant

immediately after President Lin-

coln's assassination in Ford's

Theater, April 14, 1865. This let-

ter, written by Jeann ie Gourlay,

later Mrs. Struthers, who was
supporting: Laura Keene on that

fateful night, is now in posses-

sion of Anton Hpitmuller. nf the
Heitmuller Art Company, on Four-
teenth street, who prizes it along
with a collection of some almost
priceless Lincoln mementos.
As everyone knows, the play

thai, -drew Lincoln tv the P in-

dent's box- at Ford Theater tiJkc

night was "Our American Cousin."
It was the custom in those days
to dedicate various nights to the
benefit of members of the com-
pany, the receipts on these nights
supplementing the salary of the
favored actor or actress.

April 14 was benefit night for
Laura Keene, authoress and
actress, who was starred in the
play. By reason of her great
popularity in Washington, she

, drew a crowded and distinguished

house. This night marked Miss

Keene's approach to the thousand

mark in American performances

of the play. The complete cast

was as follows:

Florence Trenchard Laura Keene
Abel Murcott Tolin Dyott
Asa Trenchard Harry Hawk
Sir Edward Trenchard .. .T. C. Gourlay
1-ord Dundreary E.* A. Emerson
Mr. Coyle J. Matthews
I-ieuienant Vernon W, J. Ferguson
Captain De Boots C. Byrnes
Blnncy G. G. Spear
Buddicomb J. H. Evans
John Whicker J. H. de Bonav
Rasper ^
Bailiffs. ..G. A. Parkhurst, I. Johnson
Mury Meredith Miss J. Gourlay
Mrs. Mountchessington. .Mrs. H. Muzzy

-Augusta Miss H. Trueman
Georg-lana Miss M. Hart
thorpc. Mrs. J. H. Evans
Skillet Miss M. Gourlay

The following is Miss Gourlay's

letter, in part, written some j'ears

ago:

"There were five members of

our family in the theater that

night; two brothers and a Mr.
Williamson in the orchestra seats.

Mr. Williamson's father was tu-

tor to Tad Lincoln, and was in

Grover's Theater that night with
the boy. My brothers knew
Booth, recognized him and climbed
to the stage (after the shooting)

with the others. I knew Booth
very well, and have always said

he took a particular scene of mine
to work his way to the President's

box.

"It was a scene between Asa
and Mary Meredith. Trenchard
was a mistake for Meredith in the
Washington program. The bill of

'Our American Cousin' was not
the same in those days. Then it

was made up of scenes, now it

is. divided into acts.

"1 think the scene I refer to

was called the dairy scene. In it,

Asa burns a will, by so doing giv-

ing money to Mary left by his

grandfather to him. The audience
knew 1hat, but Mary does not.

During that part you could hear

a pin drop in the theater.

"At the beginning of this scene

I saw Booth standing at the back

of the parquet and remarked to

myself how strange he looked.

Before my scene was over I look-

ed again, and he was gone. At

the conclusion of it I went up
to the back and the scene was
closed in on me. Ned Spangler

was one of the scene shifters. He
had just come from holding

Booth's horse in the alley. I

spoke to him and passed to the

entrance, not a great distance

from the door leading to the al-

ley. I was talking with one of

the company when I heard a pis-,

tol shot and a great noise. I had

no idea of what happened.

"A few minutes after Booth

came rushing up from the first

entrance with knife in his hand,

pushed me once against the scene

and made his exit through the

door to the alley. I then went to

the first entrance and found that

the President had been shot.

"A call from the box was made
for water. Laura Keene went to

the box to take it and give what
help she could. She took the

President's head in her arms and

it was then discovered that the

wound was in the head by the.

blood running down her dress.

They thought he was shot, in the

body and were stripping him to

find the wound. The last I saw
was when they were carrying

him from the box to leave the

theater, the saddest sight I have

ever seen.

"In 'The Life of Laura Kenne,'

by John Creahan. you will find

mention made ' of this instance."

(Signed)— \
JEANNIE GOUfcLAY STRUTH-
ERS. .

[

The night following the assas-

sination was to have been Miss

Gourlay's benefit night. "The

Octoroon" was the vehicle. Miss

Gourlay. never enjoyed her bene-

fit, of course, the pall spreading

over the Nation blinding all de-

sire for amusement. Futhermore,

the theater was immediately

closed.

A short time later Ford, made
an attempt to reopen the thea-

ter; importing a company and
making all arrangements, even to

the extent of distributing hand-

bills announcing the date. A
squad of armed soldiers was dis-

patched from the War Depart-

ment to the theater on the night

in question, giving ominous back-

ing to the War Department's

mandate that the theater would
not reopen.

Turn to the March of Events
section of today's Times-Herald

and read Viktor Flambeau's story

of the Lincoln memorials In

Washington, and on page 7, same
section, the interesting story of

Henry Polkinhorn, Washington
man. who as a lad of twelve

years was in Ford's Theater

when, Lincoln was shot. Inter-

esting pictures with both stories.

Jeannie Gorlay
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Q. When did you see this horse last, before to-day ?

A. I saw him about, I should think, the 4th or 5th of April ; the

time he brought it there to sell it,— about that time. I do not recol-

lect the date exactly.

Q. Have you seen that horse in the possession of Atzerodt since,

between to-day and that time when you saw him, that you just men-

tioned ?

A. Not since the day he brought them there to sell.

Joe Shims (colored),

a witness called for the prosecution, being duly sworn, testified as

follows :
—

By the Judge Advocate :

Q. Do you live in this city?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What connection have you had with Ford's Theatre?

A. I worked there two years. I came there when I first came

to Washington.

Q. Were you there on the night the President was assassinated ?

A. I was up on the flies to wind up the curtain.

Q. Did you see Booth there that evening ?

A. I saw Mr. Booth that evening between five and six o'clock.

Q. State where you saw him, and what he did and said.

A. When I saw him, he came in on the back part of the stage,

and went through to the front of the house. I was in front of the

house ; and Mr. Booth came out there, and went out and into one of

the restaurants by the side of the theatre. I saw him no more that

night until the performance was. During the performance I heard

the fire of a pistol, and looked immediately to see where it was.

When I looked, I saw him jumping out of the private box down on

to the stage, with a bowie-knife in his hand, and then making his es-

cape across the stage. I saw no more of him.

Q. Did you hear any thing that he said ?

A. No, sir : not a word.

Q. Who was with him went he went out to drink ?

A. There was nobody with him then ; but one of the men, a
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man named Spangler, was sitting out in front, and he invited him to

take a drink.

Q. Is that the man who is here ?

A. That is the man [pointing to Edward Spangler].

Q. Did you hear a word said between them?

A. Not a word. They went into the restaurant and took a

drink : that was all I saw or heard.

Q. Did you see or hear Booth when he came up to the back of the

theatre with his horse ?

A. I did not hear him myself, neither did I see him ; but the

other colored man that works with me saw him.

Q. Is he here ?

A. He is here.

Q. You know Mr. Spangler very well ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were he and Booth very intimate ?

A. They were quite intimate together ; but I know not of any

thing between them.

Q. You only saw them often together?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Drinking together ?

A. Yes, sir.

Cross-examined by Mr. Ewing :

Q. D'*d Mr. Spangler have any thing to do with Booth's horses ?

A. No more than he used to have them attended to while Mr.

Booth was away.

Q. He had charge of the horses ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Saw to their being fed and watered ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was he hired by Mr. Booth ?

A. Mr. Spangler was not ; but there was a young man hired by

Mr. Booth. I suppose Mr. Bootli thought this young man might

not do right by his horses ; and he got Mr. Spangler to see that it

should be done right when he was not there.

Q. What position had Mr. Spangler in the theatre ?
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A. Mr. Spangler was one of the stage-managers ; one that shoved

the scenes at night, and worked on the stage all day.

Q On what side of the stage was his usual position in the

theatre ?

A. On the back part of the stage \ there was his particular place.

Q. On which side ?

A. On the right-hand side of the stage.

Q. As you face it from the audience ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. That was the side of the President's box, was it ? or was it not ?

A. No, sir : the President's box was on the left-hand side.

Q. The left-hand side looking out from the stage ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Mr. Spangler's place, you say, was on the other side ?

A. Yes : next to the back-door leading out to the alley.

Q. TYhere was your position 1 •

A. Right on the flies, where we wind the curtain up, on the third

story.

Q. Did you see Mr. Spangler that night after five o'clock ?

A. Oh, yes ! Mr. Spangler was there on the stage, attending to

his business as usual.

Q. At what time did you see him ?

A. In the early part of the night ; I cannot tell exactly when :

I never inquired to know the particular time. We had no time up

there where we were. Only two men worked up there.

Q. How long did you see him before the President was shot ?

A. I did not see Mr. Spangler at all before the President was

6hot. I myself was not thinking about any thing like that going on.

I was busy looking at the performance until I heard the report of a

Q. Did you not see Mr. Spangler during the play that night?

A. Yes, sir : he was "there. He was on the stage during the

play : he was obliged to be there.

Q. Did you see him in the first act ?

A. Yes : he was there in the first act. I saw him then.

Q. Did you see him in the second act ?

A. I do not remember seeing him in the second act.

208 THE TRIAL.

Q. "Were you down off the flies ?

A. I was not off the flies. I could see him very well from the

flies, on the opposite side of the stage, next to the side where the

President was sitting in his box. I could see from my side over to

that side of the stage.

Q. Were you on the side that the President's box was on?

A. No : I was on the other side.

Q. And Mr. Spangler's place was on the opposite side below?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You say you did not see him during the second act?

A. I did not see him during the second act.

Q. Were you looking for him ?

A. No, sir : I was not looking for him during the second act.

Q. Was he a sort of assistant stage-manager ?

A. Yes, sir : he was one of the regular stage-managers to shift

the scenes a* nights.

Q. From where you were, could you see into the President's

box?

A. I could. Prom where I was, I could see him plain.

Q. And could you see also where Mr. Spangler was in the habit

of being?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Both of them were on the opposite side of tho theatre from

you ?

A. Yes, sir : on the opposite side.

Q. Both of them, then, were on the same side with each other ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What time in the first act did you see Spangler?

A. In the first act, I saw him walking around the stage, looking

at the performance.

Q. Did he have his hat on ?

A. Yes : he always had his hat on in4:he back entries.

Q. How was he dressed ?

A. I cannot tell exactly what kind of clothes he had on, but

just a common suit.

Q. Did he look as ho does now ?

A. Oh, no, sir ! he did not look as he looks now.
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Q. How was his face ?

A. It is just as natural now as it was then.

Q. Did you ever see Mr. Spangler wear a mustache ?

A. No, sir : I never did.

Q. From where you were up on the flies, you could sometimes

see him where he was ; and sometimes, when he would change his

position, you would not see him ?

A. I could not see him then.

Q. You just saw him occasionally ; and his position generally

was around on the side opposite to that where you were ?

A. Yes, sir.

John Miles (colored),

a witness called for the prosecution, being duly sworn, testified as

follows :
—

By the Judge Advocate :

Q. Do you belong to Ford's Theatre ? and have you been working

there ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were you there on the night of the • assassination of the

President ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you see J. Wilkes Booth there ?

A. I saw him when he came there.

•Q. What hour did he come ? Tell us all you saw.

A. He came there, I think, between nine and ten o'clock ; and

he brought a horse from the stable, and came to the back door and

called "Ned Spangler" three times out of the theatre. Ned
Spangler went across the stage to him. After that I did not see

what became of Booth, and never noticed him any more until I

heard the pistol go off. I then went up in sight of the President's

box. The man up with me said some one had shot the President.

The President had then gone out of sight. I could not see him.

I went in a minute or two to the window ; and I heard the sound

of horses' feet going out the alley.

Q. Did you see anybody holding the horse out there ?

18*
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Q. How was his face ?

A. It is just as natural now as it was then.

Q. Did you ever see Mr. Spangler wear a mustache ?

A. No, sir : I never did.

Q. From where you were up on the flies, you could sometimes

see him where he was ; and sometimes, when he would change his

position, you would not see him ?

A. I could not see him then.

Q. You just saw him occasionally ; and his position generally

was around on the side opposite to that where you were ?

A. Yes, sir.

John Miles (colored),

a witness called for the prosecution, being duly sworn, testified as

follows :
—

By the Judge Advocate :

Q. Do you belong to Ford's Theatre ? and have you been working

there ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were you there on the night of the • assassination of the

President ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you see J. Wilkes Booth there ?

A. I saw him when he came there.

•Q. What hour did he come ? Tell us all you saw.

A. He came there, I think, between nine and ten o'clock ; and

he brought a horse from the stable, and came to the back door and

called "Ned Spangler" three times out of the theatre. Ned
Spangler went across the stage to him. After that I did not see

what became of Booth, and never noticed him any more until I

heard the pistol go off. I then went up in sight of the President's

box. The man up with me said some one had shot the President.

The President had then gone out of sight. I could not see him.

I went in a minute or two to the window ; and I heard the sound

of horses' feet going out the alley.

Q. Did you see anybody holding the horse out there ?
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A. I saw the boy holding the horse there : from the time I saw

him, he held him fifteen minutes.

Q. Was that after he called for Spangler?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You mean Spangler the prisoner here ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You do not. know what was said between them ?

A. No, sir : I do not know any thing about what was said

between them. I did not understand a word. I only heard him

call " Ned."

Q. You say he came up to the door with his horse between nine

and ten o'clock. Do you know at what hour he put his horse in

the little stable back of the theatre ?

A. He had put his horse in the stable when I came over there.

He and Ned Spangler and Jim Maddox came up from the stable

in the evening, I think, about three o'clock. I judge it was about

that time. I did not notice the time particularly. It was the time

he came right through the theatre.

Q. How far is the little stable in which he kept the horse from

the theatre ?

A. Not more than fifty yards, if that.

Cross-examined by Mr. Ewing :

Q. Was the play going on when Booth rode up and called for

Spangler ?

A. They had just closed a scene, and were getting ready to

take off that scene at the time he called for Spangler. Spangler

was at the second groove then, and pushed a scene across. Booth

called him three times.

Q. Where were you then ?

A. Up on the flies, about three and one-half stories from the

stage.

Q. Was that in the third act ?

A. I think it was in the third act.

Q. How long was it before the President was shot?

A. The President came in during the first act ; and I think it

was in the third act he was shot.
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Q. About how long do you think it was from the time Booth

came up there until the President was shot ?

A. From the time he brought the horse there until the President

was shot, I think was about three-quarters of an hour. I saw Booth

when he brought the horse from the stable to the door ; and from

that time until the President was shot, I think, was three-quarters

of an hour.

Q. Do you know who held the horse ?

A. John Peanuts held him : he was lying on a bench holding

the horse when I noticed him. I was at the window pretty nearly

all the time from the time Booth brought the horse until he went

away. Every time I looked out the window, John Peanuts was

lying on the bench, holding the horse. I did not see any one else

hold him.

Q. Was John Peanuts there when Booth came up?

A. I do not know : he was at the theatre ; but I do not know

whether he was at the door.

Q. Did you look out to see who was there ?

A. There was nobody there when Booth came up, that. I saw,

because I was looking out of the window.

Q. Did Spangler go out ?

A. He went to Booth. I supposed Booth was at the door.

»Q. Spangler went to him ?

A. He ran across the stage when Booth called him. Some

person told him that Booth called him ; and he ran across the stage

to him.

Q. Do you know whether he went out of the door?

A. I do not know whether he did or not. I did not see him go

out.

Q. Do you know how long Spangler staid there ?

A. No : because, when I looked out again, his boy was holding

the horse.

Q. How long was that after he called Spangler?

A. Not more than ten or fifteen minutes.

Q. Do you know what Spangler had to do with Booth ?

A. No, sir : only I saw him appear to be familiar with him,

and keeping his company and so on when he was round about there.
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Q. Did Booth treat him ?

A. I do not know : I never saw hirn treat him.

Q. Did Spangler have any thing to do with Booth's horses,

—

hitch them up, or saddle them, or hold them?

A. Yes, sir : I have seen him hold them down at the stahle.

Q. Did you know any thing about his hitching Booth's horse,

or saddling him up ?

A. I never saw him hitch any up there ; but I have seen him

hold the horse there at the stable-door. John Peanuts always

attended to the horses. I never saw Spangler put any gear on any

of them.

Q. Do you know what place on the stage Spangler generally

occupied ?

A. He worked on the right-hand side,— the side next to E
Street.

Q. The side the President's box was on ?

A. Yes, sir : on that side.

Q. Could you see from where you were up in the flies ?

A. I could see right straight down through the scenes on that

side of the stage ; and I always saw him work on that side.

Q. "Was he on that side when Booth called him ?

A. Yes, sir : he was.

Q. What was Spangler's business on that side? What k«pt

him on that side ?

A. He shoved the scenes at night on that side.

Q. "Was there another man shoving from the other side ?

A. Yes, sir : there was another man opposite to him.

Q. Did you see Spangler after you saw that Peanut John was

holding Booth's horse ?

A. I never saw him any more until I came down. I came down

the stairs after the President was shot, and Spangler was out there

at the door.

Q. At what door?

A. At the same door Booth went out when I came down stairs.

Q. "Were there others out there?

A. Yes ; there were some more men out there : I did not notice

who they were, but some more besides him.
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Q. More men of the theatre ?

A. That were at the theatre that night : there were some

strangers out there then, I believe; because every person had got

over the stage then that wanted to go over.

Q. How many men were out at the back door at that time ?

A. Not more than two or three out of the door when I came

down, because I came down in a very short time after I understood

what it was ; and Spanglcr came out, and I asked him who it was

that held the horse ; and he told me, "Hush ! not to say nothing;"

and I did not say any more, though I knew who it was, because I

saw the boy who was holding the horse. I knew that the person

who brought the horse there rode him away again.

Q. You could not see Spangler all the time when he was on the

stage, could you, from where you were ?

A. When he was working on that side, I could see him all the

while if I looked for him.

Q. Did you look for him that night?

A. No : I did not notice him particularly that night more than

usual. I would not have noticed him when I did, only I heard

Booth call him ; and I noticed where he was when he went to

Booth.

Q. He might have been on that side all night without your

noticing it ?

A. He might.

Q. You do not know, then, whether he was on that side or not ?

A. He was on that side when I saw him before then, and he

was on that side then.

Q. But you did not look for him after that ?

A. I did not look for him at all.

Q. What was it you asked Spangler when you came down ?

A. I asked him who it was holding the horse at the door of the

theatre.

Q. What did he say?

A. He told me to hush ; not to say any thing at all to him ; and

I never said no more to him.

Q. Was he excited ?

A. He appeared to be.
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Q. Was everybody excited ?

A. Every person appeared to be very much excited.

Q. "When you asked him who it was who was holding the horse,

he said, " Hush ! don't say any thing to rne " ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you say, " Hush ! don't say any thing to me " ?

A. I mean the same thing, to hush, not say any thing about it.

That was the word. Not thinking at the time, I said, " Do not

say any thing to me ;
" but he said, " Don't say any thing about

it." That was the word ; that was what he said, " Don't say any

thing about it."

Q. Do you know Spangler well?

A. Oh, yes ! at least, I know him when I see him.

Q. Did you ever see him wear a mustache ?

A. No, sir : I do not think I ever saw him wear a mustache.

By the Judge Advocate :

Q. This remark he made to you. " Hush ! don't say any thing

about it," was immediately after the killing of the President, was it ?

A. Yes, sir : right at the door when I went out doors.

Q. Did he make any other remark as a reason why you should

not say any thing about it ?

A. No, sir : not a word to me.

Q. He made no other remark?

A. No, sir : not a word to me.

Q. Did you see Booth go out of the dcr?

A. No, sir : I did not see him go out of the door ; but I heard

his horse when it went out of the alley. Whether it went right or

left, I cannot tell; but I heard the rapping of his feet on the

ground.

Q. Was the door left open at that time whcu Booth was gone?

or was it shut ?

A. It was open when I came down stairs. I do not know

whether it was left open from the time he came in and went out, or

not ; but it was open when I got down stairs. I had to go down

three and a half stories before I got down on the stage ; and when

I got down it was open.
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Actress, Who* Played Before

Lincoln on Fateful Night, Tells

of Horror—Saw Lincoln Weep
i

"We nodded cordially back
Stage—
"A shot.[

;

"Dead^ silence—
"Then Mrs. Lincoln's blood-

curdling shriek—

"

An. actress who played in "Our
American Cousin" before President

Lincoln the evening he was shot to

death by J. Wilkes Booth, namely,

Mr?, Frank Wynkoop of Los An-
geles, here tells of how kind the

martyred President had been to her,

and paints a thrilling picture of the

fatal night.

One of the most interesting of the
living witnesses of Abraham Lin-
coln's assassination, discovered by
the Rockett-Lincoln Film research
department, is Mrs. Frank Wynkoop
of Los Angeles, whose stage name
was Helen Truman as it appeared
on the~l>rogramme of Ford's Theatre
in Washington, D. C, the night
President Lincoln was shot.

Miss Truman, whose real name
was Helen Coleman, was' born in

Norfolk, Virginia, of an old South-
ern family. Her people cast their

fortunes with the Confederacy.
She first saw President Lincoln atijoy a good cry when the play turned

the White House, Sept. 3, 18G4, to pathos.
wher'e she went with her mother to p "President and Mrs. Lincoln never

intercede for the life of -her brother, came to the theatre together except on

who had been condemned to death the night of the assassination, and

for attempting to run the blockade of ™hen th^ appT™JSEFLa ™
., . *% xT^-r^n, * night we were all surprised and re-
th

»'Pu
rt £ f N°rf°lk -

. . . marked about it.

The President received up most
,

..During the time I was a member
kindly," said Mrs. Wynkoop, look- f the Ford stock company President
ing back with clear vision through i Lincoln came to see Laura Keene, with

the 58 years intervening, "and his ! Harry Hawk and John Dyott, in 'The

great sympathy quite overcame my !
Workingmen of Washington' and 'Our

, 1 if 1, A wi A *- i . i • w /"**-» (it-ill *

poor mother and myself. It was
terribly hot, but the President gave
no evidence of discomfort, and quite

made us forget it. He heard our
sad story, .asked a few questions,

and said : /

" 'Go home, make yourselves com-
fortable, and do not worry. I will

see what can be done, but I think

I can assure you now that, if the

facts are as you estate them, this '^ did not wear an evening gown> but
boy will not be^ ^executed. Return a new 6pring Bnk dress, light gray in

here in ten days.'
"

'color, and with a black pinhead check,
'and bonnet to match. Ordinarily she

"Tears Were in Lincoln's Sad Eyes" .wore an evening gown with a head-

« ,,
'

* dress of flowers. ,

"After the long, hot 10 days, full of ,

anxiety and alarms, we returned to the .Mrs. Lincoln a Distinguished Woman
White House and, after an hour's wait, •

r'^'J^iL «,„« „,> k „ n# i v. *_ ii j i„.„ it. T).Mi^ni'» r.ffit-« Mrs. Lncolln was not beautiful, but

"We had sacrificed more than $20,000

worth of family jewels and heirlooms

for lawyers before we appealed to Pres-

ident Lincoln, and I was forced to seek

a theatrical engagement to earn a liv-

ing for mother and me. John T. Ford,

of Ford's Theatre, Washington, gave
me a chance, and my first appearance
with Mr. -and Mrs. Billy Flbrence, In

'Dombey & Son,' Sept. 22, 1864.

"In those days it was the practice for

established stars to travel from one
theatre to another alone, or. In rare

cases, with one or two leading people,

the theatre's stock; company supplying
the rest of the cast. The itinerant star

usually provided the play and in some
cases the, scenery, costumes and props,

but ordinarily these were supplied by
the theatre.

Lincoln Visited Theatre Often
'From. Sept. 22 to the night of the

assassination. Ap.il 14. 1865, President

Lincoln attended the theatre as often

na affairs of state would permit, and I

took note of the plays he liked,, for I

was inexpressibly grateful to him and
c ii the nights he came to see us I tried

to be" at my best and, insofar as my
opportunities admitted, I watched every

movement of the President and his par-

ties."

"For example, I noticed that he never
applauded ' with his hands, but he
laughed heartily on occasion, and his

face spoke plainly of his approval. On
the other hand, Mrs. Lincoln . always
attested her appreciation by clapping

her hands and sending us flowers and,

;
l*ke all real women, she seemed to en-

American Cousin.
"Miss Keene's last appearance was

Friday, April 14, 1865. and as it had
been announced that both the President
and General Grant were to be present
the attendance was the best of the sea-

son. The house was packed to the
walls, there being no fire restriction in

those days."
"I saw the presidential party when

they arrived and was near enough to

note how Mrs. Lincoln was dressed.

"We all respected iiooth because he
was a good actor, was courteous ana
kindly, but none of us except Mr. Em-
erson felt very friendly Upward him be-
cause ha was cold, taciturn, aloof and
at times seemed almost arrogant.
"The night of the assassination I saw

him back stage near the passage to the
boxes just a few minutes before lie
fired the fatal shjot, and we nodded
jmrdlallyj A. minute later. I was called

on scene down front, and did not think
anything 6f Booth being there.

I had Just finished with the words:
'Good evening, Mr. Trenchard,' and
mado my exit in number two across the
stage from the President's box, when
I turned to speak to our leading lady.
Miss Gourley, and Mr. Withers, leader
of the orchestra, who were standing
near.

1 started into my dressing room, and
had not taken more than three step»
when I heard the shot that killed the
President, Meantime the front scena
had hern taken down and the stage
was full set. /

Booth Goes Mad
"The sudden sound alarmed me. I

knew there was no shooting in our
play, and it sounded close by. Instantly
there was dead silence—then Mrs. Lin-
coln's blood-curdling shriek. I turned
about Just in time to see Booth fall
upon the stage from the President's
box.
"Shouting. 'Sio semper tyrannls,' he

ran limping across the stage directly
toward me. Then I saw he brandished a
knife, but I was too amazed to move.
"He ran into number three dressing-

room and struck at Miss Gourley and
Mr. Withers as he passed, cuttjng Miss
Gourley's dress, but not wounding her.
"I want to say a word here in behalf

of Ned Spangler, who was charged
with being Booth's accomplice. I never
knew ft finer boy and I'm sure he had
nothing to do with Booth's unspeak-
able crime.
"Mrs. Lincoln's screams turned the

house into an inferno of noise. The
shouts, groans, curses, smashing of
seats, screams of women, shuffling of
feet and cries of terror created a pan-
demonium that must have been more
terrible to hear than that attending
'the assassination of Caesar. Through
all the ages it will stand out in my
memory as the hell -of hells.
"Miss Keene, with towels and co-

logne, was the first to reach the Presi-
dent, but, of course, she could do no
good. Our entire company was arrest-
ed, but was released In a few hours
and placed under surveillance of the
Secret Service.
"None of us, even Mr. Emerson, could

ever understand Booth's act. We
ascribed it to fanacticlsm gone, mad,
and aggravated, possibly, by exagger-
ated ego. I

"To me, of course, because of his'
saving my brother, Lincoln was the
great man of afl time. But as. a child
of the stage, I love to think of him as

'

a sincere lover of the drama and a
friend of its exponents. His own life I

and death proved to be one of the
greatest dramas of history.

6ion of his face that he had good news
for us. He explained that my brother's

case had been complicated by a charge
of spying, but that he had been found
not guilty of that charge, and President

Lincoln himself had pardoned him of

the other. We both fell on our knees to

thank him, and there were tears in his

sad eyes when he showed us to the

door. Since that I have always adored

him and my mothax never .ceased to

bless him.

that
wonderful thing called personality and
she would have been, distinguished in
any company.
"I first met J. Wilkes Booth at a din-

ner given by Mr. Ford to our company
on Christmas night, 1864. Booth was not
a member of our company, but he was
a great friend of Mr. E. A. Emerson,
leading man of our stock company, and
lie came to the theatre often to sec
Emerson.
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An Exceedingly Interesting Incident, i

LOS ANGELES, Feb. 12.—[To the]
Editor of The Times:] In your paper

j

of today there is an article from your:
New York correspondent about Mrs.

j

Struthers—"Jennie Gourley"—which
claims that she is* the only surviving
Woman member of the company that
played at Ford's Theater on the night
that Abraham Lincoln was assassi-
nated.

Permit me to state that the writer
lis still alive and was a regular mem-
ber of the company at Ford's Theater,
and played that night the part of
Georgina. I had just left the stage
to go to my dressing-room to change
my dress for my next scene when I
heard a shot, and, knowing there was
•no shooting in the play, -I hastened
back to the first entrance and heard
the screaming and other Bounds of
voices, and saw President Lincoln fall

over from his chair. I had noticed
Booth previously. Q& he bad bowed- to
me as I went on for my scene, from
where he was standing back of the
President's box. and wondered what
he was doing there; but dismissed the
thought, as Booth had the run of the
theater, front and back, and was ac-
quainted with all the company.

Miss Laura Keene, the star that
week, was the first one to reach the
hox from back of the stage, and knelt
down and raised up the President's
head.

Harry Hawk, one of the company,
claimed for a few years before he
died to be the only surviving one. and
then W. H. Ferguson (Biely) who was
the prompter that night, was "the
only one," and now Mrs. Struthers is

"the only one."
I don't want to be killed off so

young, as I am still able to come up
smiling, and don't want to be "the
only one," although there are not
many left, either. But I have not
cared for the notorietv of it, as I!
had always wished it had never oc-
curred as it was a terrible tragedy to
go through.

I have lived in Los Angeles for the
past fourteen years, and wrote to Jen-
nie Gourley a year ago, when T read
the article vou had in The Times
maerm'ne about her being alive, and
residing in MiKord. Pa., but have had
no replv Jennie Gourlev left the com-
pany at that time to bp married to
Mr. William Withers, the leader of
the orchestra The remainder of the
company played at the National Thea-
ter, as we were not allowed to leave
Washington, beiner suhlect to the su-
pervision of the War department, un-
der Gen Burnett, until after the trial
of the assassin.
Tours respectfully,

HELEN- THTJMAN.
fat that time)

No. 1182 "West Thirty-first street.

'*
*
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j. r. anderson 	 (7:383–84)

F-76
Letter from Anderson
Sunday Night
My dear Sir,
Should you find an opportunity to send a small package from Baltimore, do me 
the favor to send for Mrs. S. some gloves;

Say, 6 pairs black size	 6 ½
	 4 pairs purple	 6 ½
	 2 pairs brown	 6 ¼
	 2 pairs brown	 6

Good luck to you
Yours truly

J. R. Anderson
Company prevented my getting to see you tonight. I will look anxiously to hear 
from you.

mary jane anderson 	 (3:488–92, PW, Poore  
	 I:235,Pitman 75)

“A” 527 (JAO) 1865
Anderson, Mary Jane
Mary Jane Anderson, (colored), being duly sworn, says she lives in the brick 
cottage at the rear of Ford’s Theater.

I know J. Wilkes Booth; have seen him about in Alley of Ford’s Theater for 
about three months. About that time back, Ned Spangler� built a small stable 
for him on the alley & he kept a horse & buggy there. He & Spangler & Mad-
dox� were all very intimate together. They used to have good deal of private 
conversation together and seemed to have a good deal of business with each 
other that they did not want other people to know. I think they are all a lot of 
great rascals.

On the day of the President’s murder, I saw him down by his stable about 
midday. Two or three hours later I saw him standing in the small back door of 
the theater talking to a pretty young lady who had on a black silk coat & dress 
& white bonnet. They were engaged in earnest conversation. He seemed to be 
pointing up & down the alley & to the right & left as if explaining to her some-
thing about the locality. She also pointed toward F Street and in other direc-
tions, as if she understood what he was telling her. They staid there about 20 
minutes, then went into the theater together. She was a stranger to me. Never 
saw her before.

� Edman Spangler worked as a carpenter and sceneshifter for John Ford. Spangler had worked on 
the construction of the Booth home, named Tudor Hall, near Bel Air, Maryland, in 1852.

� John Ford employed James Maddox as property manager.

j .  r .  anderson
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About 7 or 8 o’clock in the evening� I saw Booth lead a horse up to the stage 
door & heard him call in a loud voice, “Ned!” three or four times. John Myers, a 
colored man employed at the theater looked out of the window & called into the 
theater, “Mr. Ned, Mr. Booth wants you.” Ned Spangler, the assistant carpenter, 
then came down to the door, & I heard Booth say in a low voice, “Tell, Maddox 
to come here.” Maddox came & Booth took the horse from Booth. He led him 
up & down, as the horse appeared restless & stamped on the ground whenever 
he let him stand still. A little time afterwards, Maddox gave the horse to some 
other person who came out and then went into the theater. The horse was stand-
ing there altogether about an hour & a half. I was at the window all the while At 
the end of this time I was looking through the open door & noticing the people 
moving about behind the scenes from time to time, when all of a sudden I saw 
Booth burst into the passage as if coming from the stage, & rush to the back 
door like lightning. He had his right arm up above his head and held something 
in his hand that glittered in the gaslight. His other arm seemed to be held out 
back of him. He had no hat on. As he came out of the door to his horse, I saw 
him strike at somebody� & then leap on his horse & gallop down the alley. I 
thought the horse had run away with him. There was immediately a great excite-
ment and people ran out into the alley.

I saw Maddox come out of the theater, looking as if he was scared to death. 
Spangler, too, but Maddox did not come outside. I went up to Spangler & said to 
him, “Mr. Ned, you know Mr. Booth called you out.” He said, “No he didn’t” in 
a sneaking sort of way as if he didn’t want anybody to hear what he said. I said, 
“Yes he did & there’s no use of you saying so, for I heard him & you must know 
something about this.” He said nothing then but sneaked away down the alley 
putting on his coat and looking as guilty as he could.

X
Mary Jane Anderson

mary anderson 	 (3:545–47)

“H” 538 (JAO) 1865
Mary Anderson
May 11, 1865
Mary Anderson testifies as follows:

I reside at 28 Church Street, on the hill, Baltimore. I have been living with 
a woman by the name of Mrs. Rosin; she lives at No. 134 Fayette Street. There is 
a young man by the name of Edward Small who is an associate of Mrs. Rosin’s 
son, George; he lives on Fayette Street, but I cannot give the number; he left 
Baltimore the week before the assassination of the President, and came to Wash-
ington. I don’t know where he stopped. He came back to our house in Baltimore 

� Booth rode up to the rear of the theater a little after 9:00 p.m.
� John “Peanut” Burroughs, an employee of John Ford. Burroughs did odd jobs around the theater, 

including guarding the stage door.

mary anderson
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